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 COME NOW Kathy Haywood and Lia Holt (³Plaintiffs´), on behalf of themselves and 

all others similarly situated, and for their Amended Class Action Complaint against Massage 

Envy FUanchiVing, LLC (³MaVVage EnY\´), allege upon personal knowledge as to their own acts 

and upon information and belief (based on the investigation of counsel) as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs bring this class action on behalf of themselves and similarly situated 

consumers because of Massage EnY\¶V decepWiYe and unfair acts and practices in offering and 

selling what it stated were one-hour massages oU ³maVVage VeVVionV´ that provided no more than 

50-minutes of massage time and deceptively and unfairly compelled consumers to pay Massage 

Envy for the time they spent being interviewed by the massage therapist, dressing and 

undressing, and waiting for the massage therapist to appear.    

2. These acts and practices were deceptive in violation of the Illinois Consumer 

Fraud Act (³ICFA´), 815 ILCS 505/1 et seq. and the Missouri Merchandising Practices Act 

(³MMPA´), Mo. ReY. SWaW. �� 407.010 et seq.  They also violated ICFA and MMPA because 

they were unfair in that they violated accepted principles of unethical conduct. 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff Kathy Haywood is a resident of East St. Louis in St. Clair County, 

Illinois, who purchased one-hour massages from the Massage Envy location in O¶Fallon, Illinois, 

on or about May 11, 2016, and September 8, 2016, but received massages that were no longer 

than 50 minutes. 

4. Plaintiff Lia Holt is a resident of Valley Park in St. Louis County, Missouri, who 

purchased a one-hour massage from the Massage Envy location in Oakville, Missouri, in or 

about April 2012, but received a massage that was no longer than 50 minutes. 
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5. Massage Envy, based in Scottsdale, Arizona, provides therapeutic massages 

through its franchise locations.  It has more than 1,100 locations in 49 states (including 

approximately 48 in Illinois) that employ more than 25,000 professionals and have provided 

more than 100 million massages and facials.1 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This is a class action filed pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure. 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2), 

(5), and (6).  The amount in controversy exceeds $5 million, exclusive of interest or costs, the 

proposed class includes at least 100 members, and there is minimal diversity of citizenship.  

Plaintiffs are citizens of Illinois and Missouri.  Massage Envy is a citizen of Delaware, where it 

is incorporated, and Arizona, where it has its principal place of business at 14350 N. 8th St., Ste. 

200, Scottsdale, AZ 85260.   

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Massage Envy because Massage Envy 

regularly provides massage services in Illinois. 

9. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS CONCERNING DEFENDANT¶S LIABILITY 

10. Until it changed its illegal practices after this lawsuit was filed, Massage Envy 

advertised and provided sessions that it told consumers included a one-hour massage but in 

actuality delivered only 50 minutes or less of actual massage time.  At least 10 minutes of the 

hour were spent (a) being briefly interviewed by the massage therapist, (b) undressing, (c) 

                                                 
1 See MaVVage EnY\¶V pUeVV UeleaVe enWiWled, ³Massage Envy Takes First Steps to International Expansion in 
Australia,´ aYailable aW http://www.massageenvy.com/about-massage-envy/press-room/press-releases/may-5-
2016.aspx (accessed 9/27/2016). 
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waiting on the massage table for the massage therapist to arrive and (d), after the massage was 

completed, getting dressed. 

11. If Massage Envy had not intended to mislead consumers about the actual length 

of the massage, it would have simply told them the truth about it, clearly and conspicuously, 

beginning with its offer of a one-hour massage session on the home page of its website and 

continuing throughout its communications with consumers.  Massage Envy used to do that ± 

until April 2007 ± with a clear disclosure about the 50-minute length of a massage at the very top 

of its home page. And after this case was filed, it appeared to be attempting to do so again. But 

for about 9½ years it engaged in a campaign to deceive consumers, as this Complaint documents. 

12. During that 9½ year period, Massage Envy misrepresented Whe lengWh of a ³1-

hoXU´ maVVage and concealed the fact that at least 10 minutes out of the hour were spent in other 

activities.  It did so repeatedly:  In its offers of an introductory one-hour massage session; on 

what it called a ³DiVclaimeU´ page; in a Yideo that it displayed for new customers entitled, ³M\ 

First Massage EVER: WhaW YoX ShoXld E[pecW´; in a ³SWep-by-SWep´ gXide Wo maVVageV WhaW iW 

displayed on its website; on a Zeb page enWiWled, ³CXVWomi]e \oXU MaVVage SeVVion´; in a page 

of ³FAQV´ on iWV ZebViWe; on iWV Zeb pageV foU indiYidXal faciliWieV, VXch aV iWV O¶Fallon, IllinoiV, 

and Oakville, Missouri, facility; on its electronic gift cards; and on display materials in its 

massage facilities.   

13. During its 9½ years of deception, Massage Envy published in only two places a 

statement that a one-hour massage lasted only 50 minutes.  However, not only did a consumer 

not need to see those statements before receiving his or her massage, in both instances Massage 

Envy went out of its way to make sure that no customer would be able to find or read them.  One 

was buried deep in an almost impossible-to-find web page, and the other was in an almost 
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impossible to read note on a pricing sheet that it did noW affiUmaWiYel\ call Wo cXVWomeUV¶ 

attention.  As shown in this complaint, as a result of the way Massage Envy concealed those 

statements, they are the epitome of what responsible marketers consider to be unethical. 

14. MaVVage EnY\¶V competitor, MassageLuxe, states clearly on the front page of its 

own website that the actual massage in a one-hour massage session that it offered lasts only 50 

minutes.  Massage Envy undoubtedly was not aware of what MassageLuxe stated on its website. 

But during its 9½ years of deception, it did noW emXlaWe MaVVageLX[e¶V responsible practice. 

15. The facts delineated below demonstrate the basis of the above allegations. 

Massage EQY\¶V Offer of a One-Hour Massage Session 

16. Massage Envy offers an ³Introductory 1-Hour Massage Session.´  The following 

screen shot shows that offer on iWV ZebViWe¶V home page as of the filing of this lawsuit on 

September 27, 2016: 
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http://www.massageenvy.com/ (accessed 9/27/2016).  The following discussion describes 

MaVVage EnY\¶V decepWiYe pUacWiceV aV of WhaW daWe. 

17. As can be seen from the above screenshot, a blue box stated that Massage Envy 

offered an ³InWUoductory 1-Hour Massage Session´ for $50.  There was also a difficult-to-see 

aVWeUiVk afWeU Whe ZoUd ³SeVVion.´   

18. Clicking on the asterisk did not take the viewer to a footnote, in the fashion of, for 

example, footnotes on Wikipedia.  Instead, if the consumer clicked on the asterisk, he or she was 

taken to a different web page entirely:  http://www.massageenvy.com/membership.aspx 

(accessed 9/24/2016).  That page was enWiWled, ³Imagine moUe ME Wime´ and deVcUibed 

³MembeUVhip BenefiWV.´  The page had no explanation of what waV meanW b\ ³InWUodXcWoU\ 1-

HoXU MaVVage SeVVion.´  It was therefore misleading to link this page to the offer of an 

³InWUodXcWoU\ 1-Hour Massage Session.´ 

Massage EQY\¶V ³DLVcOaLPeU Page´ aQd IWV LLQNV 

19. If, inVWead of clicking on Whe aVWeUiVk afWeU Whe ZoUdV ³InWUodXcWoU\ 1-Hour 

MaVVage SeVVion´ on the Massage Envy home page, the consumer scrolled down past various 

links and a menu chart, he or she would come across a footnote in small type that stated:  ³*View 

pUicing and pUomoWional deWailV.´  The folloZing VcUeenVhoW VhoZV hoZ WhaW fooWnoWe appeaUed 

on the webpage: 
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http://www.massageenvy.com/ (accessed 9/27/2016). 

20. That footnote provided a link to a page entitled, ³PUicing and Promotional 

Disclaimers´ (heUeafWeU UefeUUed Wo aV ³DiVclaimeU Page´).  Here is a screenshot from that page: 
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http://www.massageenvy.com/pricing-and-promotional-items.aspx (accessed 9/27/2016). 

21. As can be seen, in small type XndeUneaWh Whe heading, ³SeVVion,´ the Disclaimer 

Page stated:  ³*Session includes massage or facial and time for consultation and dressing.´  That 

page did not state whether the time for consultation and dressing was deducted from the one 

hour.  Nor did it indicate how long the actual massage would be or how much time was allotted 

for consultation and dressing (and didn¶W mention undressing or waiting time).     

22. As can also be seen from the above screenshot, the Disclaimer Page contained a 

lighW gUa\ bo[ enWiWled, ³NeZ Wo MaVVage EnY\?´  ThaW bo[ conWained three links.   

23. The first of those links was enWiWled, ³NeZ Wo MaVVage.´  ThaW link took the 

consumer Wo a page enWiWled, ³MaVVage TipV foU BeginneUV.´  http://www.massageenvy.com/ 

massage-therapy-for/new-to-massage.aspx (accessed 9/27/2016).  That page did not discuss the 

length of the massage. 

24. The Vecond link, ³YoXU fiUVW YiViW,´ took the consumer to a page entitled ³Your 

First Massage Session.´  http://www.massageenvy.com/your-first-visit.aspx (accessed 

9/27/2016).  That page contained both a video and text.  The video, WiWled, ³M\ First Massage 

EVER: What You Can Expect,´ lasted about three-and-a-half minutes, was interspersed with 

titles, and never mentioned that the consumer should expect that ³M\ FiUVW MaVVage EVER´ 

would last only 50-minutes or less.  (This web page could alVo be acceVVed b\ clicking on ³YoXU 

FiUVW ViViW´ in a menu baU on MaVVage EnY\¶V home page, http://www.massageenvy.com/, as 

well as other Massage Envy web pages.)  Plaintiff discusses this page further below. 

25. The WhiUd link in Whe ³NeZ Wo MaVVage EnY\?´ bo[ was enWiWled, ³MaVVage EnY\´ 

and took Whe conVXmeU Wo a page enWiWled, ³The NeZ Da\ Spa.´  http://www.massageenvy.com/ 

massage-envy.aspx (accessed 9/27/2016).  That page contained the same video mentioned above, 
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enWiWled, ³M\ FiUVW MaVVage EVER: WhaW YoX Can E[pecW,´ as well as the same blue box 

described earlier ZiWh Whe offeU of a ³$50 InWUodXcWoU\ 1-HoXU MaVVage SeVVion,´ an asterisk 

afWeU Whe ZoUd ³SeVVion´ and a fooWnoWe aW Whe boWWom of Whe page VWaWing ³*VieZ pUicing and 

pUomoWional deWailV´ ZiWh a link back to the Disclaimer Page. 

MaVVage EQY\¶V VLdeR:  ³M\ FLUVW MaVVage EVER: WhaW You Should E[SecW´  

26. Here is the script of the narration Wo MaVVage EnY\¶V Video, ³M\ FiUVW MaVVage 

EVER: What You Can Expect,´ conWained on iWV Zeb page enWiWled, ³YoXU FiUVW MaVVage 

SeVVion´: 

WhaW VhRXOd \RX e[SecW fURP \RXU fiUVW PaVVage?  Hi, I¶P Beck\ MiUi]iR fRU 
Massage Envy Spa.  

Ma\be \RX¶Ue cXUiRXV abRXW PaVVage RU \RX¶Ue fiQaOO\ Uead\ fRU \RXU fiUVW 
session.  Either way, \RX¶Ue gRQQa ZaQW WR kQRZ ZhaW WR e[SecW.  WeOO, I¶P heUe WR 
be \RXU gXide.  SR OeW¶V geW VWaUWed.   

First things first:  SchedXOiQg \RXU aSSRiQWPeQW.  WheQ \RX caOO, \RX¶OO ZaQW WR 
tell us any preferences you have, like male or female therapist and what type of 
massage you like.  Of course, this is your first massage, so how do you know your 
preferences?  Well, for first-WiPe gXeVWV, Ze UecRPPeQd a SZediVh PaVVage.  IW¶V 
Qice aQd UeOa[iQg, SOXV \RX VWiOO geW Whe WheUaSeXWic beQefiWV \RX¶Ue ORRkiQg fRU.   

So your appointment is set.  Once you arrive at Massage Envy Spa, a front desk 
associate will greet you and the\¶OO aVk \RX WR fiOO RXW a MaVVage WeOOQeVV ChaUW.  
ThiV iV ZheUe \RX¶OO UecRUd aQ\ iQjXUieV, heaOWh hiVWRU\ aQd RWheU Sh\VicaO 
conditions we should know about ± all of which is confidential.  We recommend 
wearing comfortable clothes and arriving 15 minutes early so you can fill 
everything out without feeling rushed.   

WheQ \RX¶Ue aOO fiQiVhed, \RX caQ UeOa[ aQd ZaiW iQ Whe ORbb\ RU, if aYaiOabOe, the 
tranquility room.  This is also a good time to turn your cell phone off or put it on 
silent.  Relax, your ePaiOV ZiOO VWiOO be WheUe ZheQ \RX¶Ue dRQe.   

Next, your massage therapist will come to greet you and walk you to your room.  
The\¶OO aOVR VhRZ \ou where the bathroom is ± which we recommend using ± trust 
XV, \RX dRQ¶W ZaQW WR gR Pid-session.   

TRgeWheU, \RX¶OO UeYieZ \RXU WeOOQeVV ChaUW.  YRXU PaVVage WheUaSiVW ZiOO aVk 
\RX TXeVWiRQV Oike, ³Wh\ did \RX cRPe iQ WRda\?´  aQd ³DR \RX haYe VSecific 
stUeVV RU aUeaV \RX¶Ue e[SeUieQciQg aQ\ SaiQ?´  YRXU cRPPXQicaWiRQ iV ke\ heUe 
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and throughout your session.  Tell your therapist if this iV \RXU fiUVW WiPe.  The\¶OO 
answer any questions you have and walk you through the process so you feel 
comfortable.   

MaVVage EQY\ SSa XVeV RQO\ h\SRaOOeUgeQic ORWiRQV.  SWiOO, iW¶V a gRRd idea WR OeW 
us know if you have any allergies beforehand.   

Your massage therapist will then leave the room while you disrobe to your level of 
cRPfRUW.  BXW, ZhaW¶V Whe UighW aPRXQW?  WeOl, some clients prefer to completely 
disrobe, while others remain partially clothed.  Either option is absolutely fine.  
IW¶V ZhaWeYeU iV PRVW cRPfRUWabOe fRU \RX.   

OQce diVURbed, \RX¶OO Oie RQ Whe PaVVage WabOe XQdeU Whe WRS VheeW aQd bOaQkeW.  
Your massage therapist will give you a few minutes alone, then knock before 
entering the room.   

Your massage therapist will always UeVSecW \RXU PRdeVW\.  YRX¶OO be dUaSed ZiWh 
the sheet during your entire massage session, only uncovering the part of the body 
Whe\¶re working on.  Remember, this is your massage.   

The face cradle can be adjusted and the massage table heated.  Your therapist 
just wants you to have a great experience, so speak up.  And that goes double for 
pressure and technique.  Should you experience pain or discomfort when working 
a SaUWicXOaUO\ WighW aUea, iW¶V extremely important to say so.  Your therapist is a 
professional and he or she can adapt, using different techniques to relax stubborn 
muscles.   

After your massage is completed, take a few moments to relax before you re-dress 
and your therapist takes you back to the lobby.  He or she will then offer you some 
water, discuss areas that were worked, and offer recommendations for future 
sessions.   

So there you have it²your first massage session.  ReOa[iQg, iVQ¶W iW?  If \RX haYe 
any more questions, you can visit our site, massageenvy.com, or call your local 
clinic.  Thanks for watching.  Have a healthy day.   

27. As can be seen from the script, the video never mentions how long the massage 

will last.  However, it deceptively indicates that the entire session is devoted to the massage and 

that activities such as the interview, undressing and dressing are not part of the massage 

³VeVVion.´  The naUUaWoU VWaWeV:  ³YoX¶ll be dUaped ZiWh Whe VheeW dXUing \our entire massage 

session.´  Because the consumer is not draped with a sheet during the interview or while 
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undressing or dressing, those activities are not part of the massage session, at least according to 

the video.   

28. The video recommends arriving 15 minutes early and reinforces that 

recommendation with a title as shown in the screenshot below. 

 

http://www.massageenvy.com/your-firs2-visit.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  Telling the viewer to 

arrive 15 minutes early suggests that the preliminaries do not count against the hour. 

29. Among the preliminaries are filling out a Wellness Chart and then reviewing it 

with the massage therapist, as shown in the following screenshots: 
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30. The video also states that, after the consumer disrobes and lies on the table, the 

massage therapist ³will give you a few minutes alone, then knock before entering the room.´  

Here is a screenshot of what the video shows while the narrator talks about this ³alone´ time:   

 

NoZheUe doeV Whe Yideo indicaWe WhaW WheVe ³feZ minXWeV´ ZaiWing foU Whe maVVage WheUapiVW 

count against the hour that the consumer has paid for and that the consumer is therefore paying 

Massage Envy for waiting time at $50 an hour or even more. 

MaVVage EQY\¶V ³SWeS-by-SWeS GXLde´ 

31. MaVVage EnY\¶V Zeb page enWiWled, ³YoXU FiUVW MaVVage SeVVion,´ also contained 

a four-paUW diVcXVVion enWiWled, ³The SWep-by-SWep GXide.´  http://www.massageenvy.com/your-

first-visit.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  This web page deceptively reinforced the message that the 

session consisted of the actual massage and that other activities, such as the pre-interview and 

dressing, were extraneous to it. 
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32. MasVage EnY\¶V Step-by-Step Guide had foXU paUWV, oU ³SWepV´: 

1.  Meet and Greet 

2. Starting Your Session 

3. During Your Massage 

4. Ensuring Your Wellness  

33. By refeUUing Wo WhiV aV a ³Step-by-SWep´ Guide, Massage Envy was telling its 

customers that this was a chronological description of what to expect. 

34. Step 1.  Here is a screenshot showing Step 1 of ³The SWep-by-SWep GXide´: 

 

http://www.massageenvy.com/your-first-visit.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  As can be seen, Step 

1, ³Meet and Greet,´ occurred before Step 2, ³Starting Your Session,´ and therefore described 

events that occurred before the one-hour massage session began.  Here is one such event 

described in Step 1: ³Your massage therapist will greet you and review the Wellness Chart with 

you.  They will inquire about the reason(s) you are coming in for a massage, your current 
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physical condition and any specific areas in which you are experiencing pain or would like to 

address during your massage.´  Thus, Massage Envy was deceptively telling consumers that this 

consultation or interview occurs before the one-hour massage session begins.  

35. Step 2.  Here is a screen shot showing Step 2 of MaVVage EnY\¶V ³SWep-by-Step 

GXide´: 

 

http://www.massageenvy.com/your-first-visit.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  As can be seen, Step 

2, entitled, ³Starting Your Session,´ stated that only times when the consumer was draped with a 

sheet were part of the massage session.  It stated:  ³You will always be draped with the top sheet 

during your massage session.´  Thus, Massage Envy deceptively told consumers that the times 

spent in consultation with the therapist and in dressing and undressing ± in which the consumer 

was not draped with a top sheet ± were not part of the massage session. 

36. Step 3.  Here is a screenshot of Step 3 of ³The SWep-by-SWep GXide´: 

 

http://www.massageenvy.com/your-first-visit.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  As can be seen, Step 3 

of ³The Step-by-Step Guide,´ entitled, ³During Your Massage,´ also indicated that the massage 
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session included only the actual massage.  It stated, ³Before beginning the session, your therapist 

will ask you to alert them if, at any time during the session, a technique or stroke they are using 

is uncomfortable.´  (emphasis added.)  Thus, Massage Envy deceptively told consumers that the 

massage session was that part of the visit in which the therapist was using a technique or stroke.  

That is the actual massage.  If Massage Envy did not want consumers to believe that the massage 

was not the same thing as the session, it would have said, ³Your therapist will ask you to alert 

them if, at any time during the massage, a technique or stroke they are using is uncomfortable.´  

BXW MaVVage EnY\ Vaid, ³VeVVion,´ noW ³maVVage.´ 

37. Step 4.  Here is a screenshot of Step 4 of ³The SWep b\ SWep GXide´: 

 

http://www.massageenvy.com/your-first-visit.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  In Step 4 of ³The 

Step-by-Guide,´ enWiWled, ³Ensuring Your Wellness,´ MaVVage EnY\ stated:  ³Once your 

massage therapy session is complete, your therapist will leave the room so you may re-dress.´  

Thus, Massage Envy deceptively told consumers that the time spent getting dressed after the 

maVVage (oU ³Ue-dUeVVed´ aV MaVVage EnY\ VWaWed) was not part of the massage session because it 

occurred afWeU Whe ³maVVage WheUap\ VeVVion iV compleWe.´   

38. The laVW VenWence of WhiV paUagUaph VWaWeV, ³Each session includes a 5 minute pre-

interview and 5 minutes at the end for you to re-dress.´  In Whe conWe[W of everything else on this 

page, that sentence does not mean that these times are deducted from the hour.  That 

interpretation would make no sense in light of the fact that Massage Envy discussed the pre-
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inWeUYieZ befoUe Whe VecWion called, ³Starting Your SesVion´ (emphasis added), told consumers 

that they would always be draped with a top sheet during the massage session, said that the 

therapist would ask them to say at any time during the session if a technique or stroke was 

uncomfortable, and told them that Whe\ ZoXld geW ³Ue-dUeVVed´ after the massage therapy session 

was complete.  In all of those statements, Massage Envy told consumers that the massage session 

consists of the time that the therapist is performing the massage. 

39. If it was Massage EnY\¶V intent to tell consumers in Step 4 of ³The SWep-by-

GXide´ WhaW fiYe minXWeV foU a ³pUe-inWeUYieZ´ and fiYe minXWeV Wo geW dUeVVed aW Whe end were 

part of the one-hour massage session, such disclosure would be unethical for several reasons:  (1) 

by burying it near the end of a long web page and not repeating it elsewhere, Massage Envy 

rendered it not likely to be noticed; (2) it was not likely to be noticed by consumers interested in 

the length of a massage session or even what occurs in a massage session because it was placed 

in a VecWion ZiWh Whe WiWle, ³EnVXUing YoXU WellneVV,´ UaWheU Whan a WiWle UelaWing Wo Whe maVVage 

VeVVion; (3) iW ZaV noW placed in Whe VecWionV enWiWled, ³SWaUWing YoXU SeVVion´ oU ³DXUing YoXU 

MaVVage,´ ZheUe a conVXmeU ZoXld be moUe likely to look for information on the length of a 

maVVage; and, (4) iW iV a diVclaimeU conWUadicWing Whe oYeUall impUeVVion of MaVVage EnY\¶V offeU 

of a one-hour massage session, namely that it consists of the actual massage and not extraneous 

activities such as the interview and getting dressed.  

MaVVage EQY\¶V Web Page, ³CXVWRPL]e \RXU MaVVage SeVVLRQ´ 

40. AcUoVV Whe Wop of MaVVage EnY\¶V ZebViWe was a menu bar.  The second item on 

that menu bar was called, ³MaVVage.´  Clicking on WhaW iWem brought the consumer to a page 

enWiWled, ³CXVWomi]e \oXU MaVVage SeVVion.´  http://www.massageenvy.com/massage.aspx 

(accessed 9/16/2016.)  At the top of that page were several boxes indicating the various lengths 
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of time that were aYailable inclXding, ³1-hoXU,´ ³1 ò -hoXU,´ and ³2-hoXU.´  Here is a screenshot 

of that page showing those boxes: 

 

http://www.massageenvy.com/massage.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).   

41. The box for one-hour on Whe MaVVage EnY\ Zeb page, ³CXVWomi]e \oXU MaVVage 

SeVVion,´ http://www.massageenvy.com/massage.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016), did not state that 

the hour included anything other than a massage.  In fact, it indicated the opposite.  It stated that 

Whe VeVVion ³[i]nclXdeV Wime foU combinaWion fXll bod\ maVVage oU focXVed Uelief of WenVion 

aUeaV´ ZiWhoXW indicaWing WhaW iW inclXded anything else, such as undressing, dressing, 

³conVXlWaWion´ oU ZaiWing. 

42. AV can be Veen fUom WhiV VcUeenVhoW, beloZ Whe ³1-hoXU´ bo[ were Whe ZoUdV ³$50 

InWUodXcWoU\ PUice´ ZiWh an aVWeUiVk afWeU Whe ZoUd ³PUice.´  ThaW aVWeUiVk did not have a link to 

anything.  Scrolling down the page (way down because it was a very long page) brought the 

consumer to a footnote like the one described above that said, ³*View pricing and promotional 
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deWailV´ ZiWh a link Wo Whe same Disclaimer Page discussed above that did not state that a one-

hour massage lasts only 50 minutes. 

MaVVage EQY\¶V FAQV 

43. MaVVage EnY\¶V ZebViWe also had a page of FAQs that deceptively referred to a 

³1-hoXU maVVage,´ noW a ³1-hoXU maVVage VeVVion´ and did not state that the massage was 

actually less than an hour.  In fact, it indicated the opposite.  In UeVponVe Wo Whe qXeVWion, ³HoZ 

long VhoXld a maVVage laVW?´ Whe page VWaWed, ³Some people YieZ a one-hour massage [not 

³maVVage VeVVion´] aV enoXgh foU Uela[aWion and Uelief of mild VWUeVV oU WenVion aUeaV.´  

http://www.massageenvy.com/faqs.aspx (accessed 9/27/2016). 

44. Here is a screenshot of that question and answer aV iW appeaUV on MaVVage EnY\¶V 

FAQ page: 

 

http://www.massageenvy.com/faqs.aspx (accessed 9/27/2016). 

MaVVage EQY\¶V Web Pages for Individual Facilities 

45. Massage Envy also made the offer of a one-hour introductory massage on its web 

pages foU indiYidXal faciliWieV, VXch aV iWV O¶Fallon, IllinoiV facility, as shown in this screen shot: 
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http://www.massageenvy.com/clinics/IL/OFallon-IL.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016). 

46. As can be seen from the above screenshot, a list of services on the right side of the 

screen included a ³1-HoXU MaVVage´ (noW maVVage VeVVion) foU $50.  

47. There was also a reference to a one-hoXU ³maVVage VeVVion´ XndeU Whe phoWo of 

two Massage Envy employees.  Since the same page referred Wo a ³1-HoXU MaVVage,´ a 

reasonable consumer would conclude that a one-hour massage session included a one-hour 

massage.  Moreover, noWe Whe aVWeUiVk afWeU Whe ZoUd, ³VeVVion.´  That asterisk does not have a 
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link to anything.  If the consumer scrolled down to find out what the asterisk meant, he or she 

found, not a footnote (at least not at first), but asterisks on an appointment form.  That 

appointment form is shown in the following screenshot: 

 

Id. 

48. Thus, a UeaVonable conVXmeU ZoXld conclXde WhaW Whe aVWeUiVk afWeU ³SeVVion´ in 

the offer of a one-hour massage session was directing him or her to the asterisks in the 

appointment form and never see the footnote, much less find his or her way to the Disclaimer 

Page.  
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MaVVage EQY\¶V E-Gift Cards 

49. Massage Envy also sold electronic gift cards.  https://www.massageenvy.com/ 

gift-cards.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  Here is a screenshot of the offer of a gift card: 

 

https://www.massageenvy.com/gift-cards.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016). 
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50. As can be seen from the above screenshot, the least expensive E-Gift card was 

$75.  MaVVage EnY\¶V offeU of WhiV gifW caUd VWaWeV WhaW iW iV ³[W]\picall\ good foU 1-hour 

introductory massage, inclXding gUaWXiW\.´  IW UefeUV Wo a ³1-hoXU inWUodXcWoU\ maVVage,´ noW ³1-

hoXU maVVage VeVVion,´ and doeV noW VWaWe WhaW Whe 1-hour introductory massage is not a full hour, 

but rather no longer than 50 minutes. 

51. The E-Gift Card page contained four asterisks.  Three are shown in the screenshot 

above.  The fourth accompanied a footnote at the bottom of the page that, as is the case on other 

Massage Envy web pages, stated, ³VieZ pUicing and pUomoWional deWailV´ with a link to the 

Disclaimer Page. 

52. There was nothing about the first three asterisks on the E-Gift Card page that 

would lead a consumer to that footnote.  They accompanied the titles of boxes for the consumer 

to fill out (Name of Recipient, Quantity, and Confirm Email) and suggest that these are simply 

items that must be completed. 

MaVVage EQY\¶V DLVSOa\ MaWeULaOV 

53. Massage Envy reinforced the message that one-hour massages last one hour in 

posters for retail products that it sells in its facilities.  Such products include muscle relief sets, 

body gels, spa creams, triggerpoint pillows, and other products.  

54. For example, during the 2015 holiday season, Massage Envy displayed posters 

ZiWh Whe folloZing meVVage aboYe a UeWail Vhelf:  ³BECAUSE THIS FEELING SHOULD LAST 

LONGER THAN ONE HOUR.´  See ³Holida\ 2015,´ https://www.massageenvy.com/media/ 

836479/holiday%202015%20roll-out%20guide.pdf (accessed 9/24/2016) at 31.  The following 

screenshot shows a graphic from that publication: 

Case 3:16-cv-01087-DRH-SCW   Document 20   Filed 11/14/16   Page 26 of 76   Page ID #706

https://www.massageenvy.com/media/836479/holiday%202015%20roll-out%20guide.pdf
https://www.massageenvy.com/media/836479/holiday%202015%20roll-out%20guide.pdf


22 

 

55. Telling conVXmeUV WhaW ³WhiV feeling VhoXld laVW longeU Whan one hoXU´ iV Welling 

them that the massage lasts an hour because there is no reason to reproduce any feeling that a 

consumer obtains at Massage Envy other than the feeling from the actual massage.  A consumer 

haV no UeaVon Wo deViUe Whe ³feeling´ fUom an inWeUYieZ, waiting time, getting undressed, or 

getting dressed to last beyond the experience at Massage Envy. 

The One Statement on Its Website Where Massage Envy Reveals the Actual Length of a 
One-Hour Massage is Virtually Impossible to Find 

56. On its entire website, Massage Envy stated on only one page that a one-hour 

massage was actually only 50 minutes.  That was on an almost impossible-to-find web page, 

enWiWled, ³T\peV of MaVVage´ (heUeafWeU ³T\peV of MaVVage´ Page).  

http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-massage.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  On that page, 

Massage Envy stated:  ³A 1-hour massage therapy session at Massage Envy clinics nationwide 

consists of the therapist consultation, 50 minutes of hands-on massage, and 5 minutes of 

dUeVVing.´ 

57. On information and belief, there was only one limited path to follow by which a 

consumer could come across the ³Types of Massage´ Page.  One need not have followed that 

path to obtain a massage at Massage Envy.  Moreover, if one did follow this path, there was 

nothing to indicate that at the end one would learn how long a massage lasts. 
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58. HeUe iV Whe paWhZa\ Wo Whe ³T\peV of MaVVage´ Page:  First one had to click on 

³MaVVage´ in Whe menX baU neaU Whe Wop of a page.  That took one Wo a page enWiWled, ³CXVWomi]e 

\oXU MaVVage SeVVion.´  http://www.massageenvy.com/massage.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).  

That page is shown in the screenshot below: 
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http://www.massageenvy.com/massage.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016).   

59. As can be seen, on this page various types of massages were listed, including 

³TUiggeU PoinW TheUap\,´ ³SZediVh MaVVage´ and oWheUV.  Clicking on eiWheU Whe name of one of 

thoVe W\peV oU on Whe ZoUdV, ³LeaUn MoUe,´ took one to a page devoted to that technique.  See, 

e.g, http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-massage/trigger-point-therapy.aspx and 

http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-massage/swedish.aspx (both accessed 9/24/2016). 

60.  Each of the pages devoted to one of the types of massage had a list of massage 

types on Whe lefW Vide XndeU Whe WiWle, ³T\peV of MaVVage.´  The folloZing VcUeenVhoW VhoZV WhaW 

liVW on Whe page foU ³TUiggeU PoinW TheUap\´: 
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http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-massage/trigger-point-therapy.aspx (accessed 

9/24/2016). 

61. This page (and others like it devoted to specific types of massage, such as 

Swedish Massage) had the only direct links to the lone web page that said that a one-hour 

massage lasts only 50 minutes.  And even that link was difficult to find.  The link was the title of 

the list of different types of massage on the left side of the page.  As can be seen from the above 

screenshot, there is no visual clue to indicate that this is a link.  That is in contradistinction to the 

massage types under the title, all of which are preceded by arrows, indicating that they are links. 

62. HoZeYeU, placing one¶V cXUVoU oYeU Whe ZoUdV, ³T\peV of MaVVage,´ UeYealed that 

it is a link, and clicking on it brought Xp Whe ³T\peV of MaVVage´ Page.   

63. On information and belief, this complicated path was the only way to access this 

page from any other page on the Massage Envy website.   

64. Moreover, even once one found this page, it was difficult to find the reference 

stating that a one-hour massage lasts only 50 minutes.  First, there was nothing to alert the reader 

that the length of a massage was even mentioned on this page.  To the contrary, the page 

contained a brief description of different massage types, followed by a diVcXVVion of ³SignaWXUe 

SeUYiceV´ and ³Who iV MaVVage TheUap\ good foU?´   

65. Below that discussion ± not preceded by a title and fully 41 lines of type from the 

top ± was WhiV VWaWemenW:  ³A 1-hour massage therapy session at Massage Envy clinics 

nationwide consists of 5 minutes of therapist consultation, 50 minutes of hands-on massage, and 

5 minutes of dressing.´  http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-massage.aspx (accessed 

9/24/2016). 
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66. That difficult-to-find statement on an almost impossible-to-find web page was the 

onl\ place on MaVVage EnY\¶V entire website telling the reader that a one-hour massage therapy 

session included only a 50-minute massage. 

67. The following screenshot shows how this statement was hidden on this webpage 

(Plaintiffs have inserted an arrow on the image to point out the sentence): 
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http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-massage.aspx (accessed 9/24/2016). 

68. One did not need to access this web page to obtain a massage at Massage Envy.   

MaVVage EQY\¶V PULcLQg Card Includes a Statement About the Actual Length of a Massage 
that is Difficult to Find and Read 

69. At its facilities, Massage Envy had cards available for its customers that provide a 

menu of services, with their prices.  One did not need to see this to obtain a massage.  An 

example, which Plaintiff Haywood obtained after her second massage at the Massage Envy 

faciliW\ in O¶Fallon, IllinoiV, iV aWWached aV E[. A.  This card is 3.5 inches by 8.5 inches and has 

two sides, one devoted to massage services, the other to skin care services. 

70. The massage side of the pricing card liVWV a ³60-Min. MaVVage SeVVion´ ZiWh an 

³InWUo pUice´ of $50 and a Non-Member price of $90.   

71. At the bottom of this page, in tiny, 5-pt type, is a seven-line, difficult-to-read 

block of pUinW WhaW VWaWeV, in paUW, ³SeVVion Wime inclXdeV maVVage oU facial and a WoWal of 10 

minutes for consultation and dressing, which occurs both pre and post service.´ 

72. Nowhere else on this card is the consumer told about non-massage time, such as 

time for consultation and dressing.  Nor does this card state explicitly that the 10 minutes for 

consultation and dressing is deducted from the massage time, leaving only 50 minutes for the 

massage. 

73. ThiV page conWainV Whe folloZing cop\UighW noWice:  ³� MaVVage EnY\ 

FUanchiVing, LLC.´    

74. On infoUmaWion and belief, MaVVage EnY\¶V emplo\eeV were not trained to 

provide this card to consumers before their massage.  That belief is based on the fact that no 

emplo\ee called MV. Ha\Zood¶V aWWenWion Wo Whe card on either occasion she was present at 

MaVVage EnY\¶V O¶Fallon, IllinoiV, faciliW\. 
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Massage Envy Used to Disclose at the Top of Its Home Web Page How Long the Massage 
Lasts, But It Has Made that Information Progressively More Difficult To Find 

75. Massage Envy did not always attempt to conceal the actual length of the massage 

included in a one-hour massage session.  Until April 2007, it clearly and unmistakably disclosed 

at the top of its home page that a one-hour session included only 50 minutes of massage time.  

The Internet Wayback Machine, https://archive.org/web/ (accessed 9/26/2016), contains an 

archive of Massage Envy web pages as of days in the past.  The following screenshot shows 

MaVVage EnY\¶V home page as of April 19, 2007: 

 

http://web.archive.org/web/20070506115807/http://www.massageenvy.com/ (accessed 

9/26/2016). 

76. As can be seen from the above screenshot, bearing the date of April 19, 2007, the 

offer of a $39 introductory price for first-Wime YiViWoUV cleaUl\ VWaWeV, ³Valid foU one hoXU VeVVion, 

which consists of a 50 min, massage and time for consXlWaWion and dUeVVing.´   
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77. By the next month, however, Massage Envy had taken that statement off its home 

page.  See this screenshot from the Massage Envy home page captured by the Internet Wayback 

Machine on May 28, 2007: 

 

https://web.archive.org/web/20070528115943/http://www.massageenvy.com/ (accessed 

9/26/2016).  Gone from the home page was the disclosure that a one-hour massage lasts only 50 

minutes.   

78. However, note on the above screenshot the menu bar containing Whe iWem, ³T\peV 

of MaVVage.´  ThaW iWem was a direct link to an earlier ± and simpler ± YeUVion of Whe ³T\peV of 

MaVVage´ page ZiWh the disclosure about the actual length of the massage. A consumer did not 

have to follow a complicated path to find that page ± although even then nothing told the 

conVXmeU WhaW Whe ³T\peV of MaVVage´ page ZoXld diVcloVe Whe lengWh of a maVVage.  See WhiV 

screenshot, dated May 18, 2007, of Whe ³T\peV of MaVVage´ page: 
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https://web.archive.org/web/20070518200434/http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-

massage.aspx (accessed 9/26/2016).  The reference to the length of the massage is in the second 

paragraph below the heading, ³Who iV MaVVage good foU?´  This page is not nearly as long as it 

is now, and the statement that a massage is 50 minutes is easier to find. 

79. B\ SepWembeU 23, 2011, hoZeYeU, MaVVage EnY\ had UemoYed ³T\pes of 

MaVVage´ fUom Whe linkV aW Whe Wop of iWV home page and dUopped iW into the midst of a group of 

several links farther down the page, with no indication that that item would link to a page that 
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ZoXld diVcloVe Whe acWXal lengWh of a ³one-hoXU´ maVVage.  See this screenshot from a web page 

captured on that date: 

 

http://web.archive.org/web/20110923135458/http://www.massageenvy.com/ (accessed 

9/26/2016). 

80. If one clicked the link foU ³T\peV of MaVVage´ on that page, one would find that 

the page had expanded, making the reference to the length of massage more difficult to find than 

it had been.  See this screenshot from a web page captured on September 23, 2011, which shows 

that the statement revealing the length of a massage is well down the page: 
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http://web.archive.org/web/20110923143615/http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-

massage.aspx (accessed 9/26/2015). 

81. By October 2015, even that direct link on MaVVage EnY\¶V home page to the 

³T\peV of MaVVage´ page was gone.  That can be seen from the following screenshot, captured 

by the Internet Wayback Machine on October 21, 2015: 

 

http://web.archive.org/web/20151021043008/http://www.massageenvy.com/ (accessed 

9/26/2016).  To prove that there waV no longeU a link Wo Whe ³T\peV of MaVVage´ page on the 

Massage Envy home page, note Whe VeaUch baU aW Whe Wop UighW.  The ZoUd, ³T\peV´ is not found 

on the page.  B\ WhiV Wime, Whe ³T\peV of MaVVage´ page coXld onl\ be foXnd b\ folloZing Whe 

complicated pathway outlined above.  MaVVage EnY\¶V da\V of full disclosure were long gone. 

Massage Envy Told Its Members that a One-Hour Massage Lasts Only 50 Minutes 

82. Once a customer had WUied MaVVage EnY\¶V inWUodXcWoU\ maVVage and learned that 

a one-hour massage lasts less than an hour and decided to enter into a membership agreement (at 

a different price per one-hour session than the introductory price), Massage Envy then disclosed 
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Whe acWXal lengWh of a ³1-hoXU´ maVVage.  MembeUVhip alloZV a consumer to receive one ³one-

hour´ service per month.  In Paragraph 1 of MaVVage EnY\¶V TeUmV & CondiWionV for its 

membership agreement, it made clear that a one-hour session includes only 50 minutes of actual 

massage time.  There Massage Envy stated:  ³Each one-hour service includes fifty minutes of 

hands-on massage or facial and alloZV Wen minXWeV foU clienW conVXlWaWion and dUeVVing.´ 

83. The following screenshot shows this statement in the Terms & Conditions for 

Massage Envy membership: 

 

These terms and conditions were not publicly available on the internet. 

84. There is no reason why Massage Envy could not make a similar clear and easy-to-

find disclosure to consumers who were not its members.  Accordingly, Massage Envy was 

seeking to deceive unknowing consumers into thinking that a one-hour massage or massage 

session contains a one-hour massage. 

MaVVage EQY\¶V Competitor MassageLuxe Freely Discloses that a One-Hour Session 
Provides a 50-Minute Massage 

85. MassageLuxe is a chain of massage facilities that compete with Massage Envy.  It 

has five facilities in Illinois (including one in Edwardsville and one in Fairview Heights) and 

sixteen in Missouri (nine in St. Louis City or County). 

86. The VcUeen VhoW beloZ Waken fUom MaVVageLX[e¶V home page VhoZV that 

MassageLuxe prominently discloses the actual massage time of a ³$48 1-hour massage´ for 

³[f]iUVW Wime clienWV onl\.´  It states:  ³ConViVWV of 50-minute standard massage and time for 

consultation and dUeVVing.´ 
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https://massageluxe.com/ (accessed 9/24/2016). 

87. MassageLuxe also makes available a coupon for a $48 1-hour massage and states 

on the face of the coupon that the actual massage time is only 50 minutes.  https:// 

massageluxe.com/coupons/ (accessed 9/24/2016).  Here is a screenshot of that coupon. 

 

https://massageluxe.com/coupons/ (accessed 9/24/2016). 
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88. There is no reason why Massage Envy could not make similarly prominent 

disclosures. 

Massage Envy Changed Its Website After this Lawsuit Was Filed and Removed All the 
Above Deceptive Statements  

89. Plaintiff Haywood filed this lawsuit on September 27, 2016.  Approximately one 

month later, Massage Envy changed its website and removed every single deceptive statement 

about the length of a massage as described in the original complaint, Dkt. No. 1.  The only 

references to the length of a massage or massage session now on the website are not deceptive. 

90. The exact date on which Massage Envy changed its website is unknown.  On 

information and belief, it occurred after October 22, 2016, but on or before November 5, 2016.  

The Internet Wayback Machine shows the old version of the Masssage Envy home page as of 

October 22, 2016.  https://web.archive.org/web/20161022185217/http://www.massageenvy.com/ 

(accessed 11/13/2016).  But it shows the new version of the home page as of November 5, 2016.  

http://web.archive.org/web/20161105112521/https://www.massageenvy.com/ (accessed 

11/13/2016). 

91. On its new website, approximately one month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 

27, 2016, Massage Envy no longer mentioned an introductory One-Hour Massage Session or a 

massage or massage session of any length on its home page, as described in Paragraphs 16-18 

above.  

92. Here is a screenshot from the new Massage Envy home page: 
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https://www.massageenvy.com/ (accessed Nov. 14, 2016). 

93. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

home page no longeU had a fooWnoWe oU an\ oWheU link VWaWing, ³VieZ pUicing and pUomoWional 

deWailV´ aV deVcUibed in Paragraphs 19-20 above. 

94. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

MaVVage EnY\ ZebViWe no longeU had a page enWiWled, ³PUicing and PUomoWional Disclaimers,´ aV 

described in Paragraphs 20-25 above.  

95.  As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

Massage Envy website continued to have a page enWiWled, ³YoXU FiUVW MaVVage SeVVion´ (see 

Paragraphs 24 and 31-39 above).  However, the video entitled, ³M\ First Massage EVER: What 

You Can Expect,´ had been removed from that page and can no longer be found anywhere on the 

Massage Envy website.  Nevertheless, it is still available on a You Tube page attributed to 

Massage Envy.  See https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gD9brK_To3U (accessed Nov. 14, 
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2016).  It is clear that Massage Envy placed the video on You Tube.  Below the video, the page 

states:  

Published on Aug 22, 2013 

Join Massage Envy Spa as we talk about your first massage with 
Massage Envy. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gD9brK_To3U (emphasis added; accessed November 14, 

2016). 

96. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

Massage Envy web page enWiWled, ³YoXU First Massage´ no longer contained any of the 

misleading statements described in Paragraphs 31-39 above.  https://www.massageenvy.com/ 

massage/your-first-massage (accessed 11/14/2016). 

97. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

MaVVage EnY\ Zeb page enWiWled, ³YoXU FiUVW MaVVage,´ conWinXed Wo haYe a paUagUaph enWiWled, 

³1. MeeW and GUeeW.´  Unlike Whe foUmeU YeUVion deVcUibed in Paragraph 34 above, this paragraph 

no longer included a description of the interview by the therapist, indicating that the interview 

was not part of the session.  Instead, the only reason the new version gives for arriving 15 

minutes early for the massage is to fill out certain forms.  IW VWaWeV:  ³We recommend arriving 15 

minutes early for your appointment to complete these forms.´  

https://www.massageenvy.com/massage/your-first-massage (accessed 11/14/2016). 

98. Here is a screenshot of this paragraph as of the filing of this Amended Complaint: 
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https://www.massageenvy.com/massage/your-first-massage (accessed 11/14/2016). 

99. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

MaVVage EnY\ Zeb page enWiWled, ³YoXU FiUVW MaVVage,´ conWinXed Wo haYe a paUagUaph enWiWled, 

³2. SWaUWing YoXU SeVVion.´  Unlike Whe foUmeU YeUVion of WhaW paUagUaph deVcUibed in Paragraph 

35 above, this paragraph refers to the interview with the therapist, indicating that the interview is 

part of the massage session.  It also states, unlike the version of the page as of the filing of this 

lawsuit on Sept, 27, 2016, that the session time includes 10 minutes for consultation and 

dressing. 

100. As of the filing of this Amended Complaint this paragraph states in full:  ³Your 

therapist will review the forms with you, and discuss the reasons for your visit and any specific 

areas you would like to address during your massage. Session time includes 10 minutes for 

consultation and dressing.´  https://www.massageenvy.com/massage/your-first-massage 

(accessed 11/14/2016). 

101.  Here is a screenshot of Whe ³SWaUWing YoXU SeVVion´ paUagUaph aV of Whe filing of 

this Amended Complaint: 
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https://www.massageenvy.com/massage/your-first-massage (accessed 11/14/2016). 

102. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

MaVVage EnY\ Zeb page enWiWled, ³YoXU FiUVW MaVVage,´ conWinXed Wo haYe a paUagUaph enWiWled, 

³DXUing YoXU MaVVage.´  Unlike the version described in Paragraph 36 above, it no longer stated 

that the therapist would ask the consumer to indicate if at any time during the session a technique 

or stroke was uncomfortable, and therefore no longer indicated that the session included only the 

massage activity.  

103. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

MaVVage EnY\¶V Zeb page enWiWled, ³YoXU FiUVW MaVVage,´ no longer had a paragraph entitled, 

³EnVXUing YoXU WellneVV.´  Unlike Whe YeUVion deVcUibed in PaUagUaphV 37-39 above, that page 

no longer stated, ³Once your massage therapy session is complete, your therapist will leave the 

room so you may re-dress,´ and therefore no longer indicated that the re-dressing was not part of 

the session. Instead, Whe page noZ haV a paUagUaph WiWled, ³AfWeU YoXU MaVVage,´ that states: 

³When your massage [not massage session] is complete, your therapist will wait outside the 

room so you may dress.´  https://www.massageenvy.com/massage/your-first-massage (accessed 

11/14/2016). 

104. HeUe iV a VcUeenVhoW VhoZing WhaW VWaWemenW on MaVVage EnY\¶V Zebsite as of the 

filing of this Amended Complaint: 
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https://www.massageenvy.com/massage/your-first-massage (accessed 11/14/2016). 

105. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

Massage Envy website no longer had a page entitled, ³CXVWomi]e YoXU MaVVage SeVVion´ as 

described in Paragraphs 40-42.  The website no longer contained the box described above for a 

one-hour massage that stated that the session included time for combination full body massage or 

focused relief of tension areas without indicating it included anything else, such as undressing, 

dressing, consultation or waiting. 

106. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, the 

Massage Envy website no longeU had a page of ³FAQV´ as described in Paragraphs 43-44.  As of 

then, the Massage Envy website no longer had a question and answer that deceptively referred to 

a ³one-hoXU maVVage.´ 

107. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, 

Massage Envy continued to have a page for each of its individual locations.  At the bottom of 

each of those pages is a statement that the pages are copyUighW (³�´) MaVVage EnY\ FUanchiVing 

LLC, showing that Massage Envy wrote and is responsible for the page.  For example, the 

VcUeenVhoW beloZ VhoZV hoZ WhaW cop\UighW noWice appeaUV on Whe locaWion foU MaVVage EnY\¶V 

O¶Fallon locaWion: 
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https://locations.massageenvy.com/il/o-fallon/1140-central-park-drive.html (accessed 

11/14/2016). 

108. As of the filing of this Amended Complaint, the web pages for Massage EnY\¶V 

individual locations no longer contain an offer for a one-hour massage without making clear that 

the hour includes non-massage time.  To the contrary, the pages contain a box with an offer of 

introductory pricing that makes clear the length of the massage.  For example, in the case of the 

O¶Fallon, IllinoiV, and OakYille, MiVVoXUi locaWionV, Whe pageV VWaWe WhaW a 60-minute massage 

was $50.00.  They also clearly state that a 60-minute massage includes 10 minutes of non-

massage time.   

109. Here is a screenshot of the box containing the above offer on the web page of 

MaVVage EnY\¶V indiYidXal locaWion: 
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https://locations.massageenvy.com/il/o-fallon/1140-central-park-drive.html (accessed 

11/14/2016).   

110. As can be seen the last sentence in that price list states, ³See fXll pUicing deWailV.´ 

ThaW VenWence iV a link Wo a page enWiWled ³MaVVage EnY\: Legal.´  https://www.massageenvy 

.com/legal (acceVVed 11/14/2016).  On infoUmaWion and belief, WhaW ³Legal´ page iV neZ aV of 

approximately one month after this lawsuit was filed.  That belief is based on the fact that the 

Internet Wayback Machine has no record of it, as can be seen from the following screenshot 

taken on November 13, 2016: 
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https://web.archive.org/web/*/https://www.massageenvy.com/legal (accessed 11/14/2016). 

111. As of the filing of this Amended Complaint, the Massage Envy: Legal web page 

has a VecWion enWiWled, ³SeVVion.´  ThaW VecWion VWaWes:  

*Session time includes 10 minutes for dressing and consultation.  

A 60-minute session includes 50 minutes of hands-on service and 
10 minutes for consultation and dressing. A 90-minute session 
includes 80 minutes of hands-on service and 10 minutes for 
consultation and dressing. 

112. Here is a screenshot showing those statements: 

 

https://www.massageenvy.com/legal (accessed 11/14/2016). 

113. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, 

Massage Envy continued to offer e-gift cards on its website at https://www.massageenvy.com/ 
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gift-cards.aspx (accessed 11/14/2016).  However, that page no longer stated that the $75 e-gift 

card was typically good for a 60-minute introductory massage as described in Paragraphs 49-50, 

aboYe.  InVWead, iW VWaWed, ³T\pically good for a 60-minute introductory massage or facial session, 

inclXding gUaWXiW\.  A VeVVion inclXdeV 10 minXWeV foU conVXlWaWion and dUeVVing.´  

https://www.massageenvy.com/gift-cards.aspx (accessed 11/14/2016) (emphasis added). 

114. Here is a screenshot showing how the former statement was changed: 

 

https://www.massageenvy.com/gift-cards.aspx (accessed 11/14/2016). 

115. As of approximately a month after this lawsuit was filed on Sept. 27, 2016, 

MaVVage EnY\ conWinXed Wo haYe a Zeb page enWiWled, ³T\peV of MaVVage,´ Zhich coXld VWill be 

found from the link noted above, http://www.massageenvy.com/types-of-massage.aspx, though 

its url was now https://www.massageenvy.com/massage/massage-types (accessed 11/14/2016)..   
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116. As of the filing of this Amended Complaint, this page no longer indicated that a 

one-hour massage therapy session included 50 minutes of hands-on massage, as described in 

Paragraph 56 above.  It contained no reference to the length of a massage whatsoever. 

117. There is no reason why the misleading statements on MaVVage EnY\¶V ZebViWe aV 

of the filing of this lawsuit could not have been removed before the class periods in this case 

began.  It would have been feasible to do so. The removal of those statements in MaVVage EnY\¶V 

revamped website shows the existence of a duty to consumers not to make those misleading 

statements.   

118. The VWaWemenWV on Whe neZ YeUVion of MaVVage EnY\¶V ZebViWe making cleaU WhaW a 

60-minute massage session includes 10 minutes of non-massage activity, as contained on the 

Zeb page enWiWled, ³YoXU FiUVW MaVVage,´ Whe Zeb pageV foU iWV indiYidXal locaWionV, Whe page 

enWiWled, ³MaVVage EnY\ Legal,´ and iWV Zeb page offeUing e-gift cards, show the existence of a 

duty to consumers to make such disclosures. 

PLAINTIFF ALLEGATIONS 

Kathy Haywood 

119. In or about February 2016, Plaintiff Kathy Haywood¶V daXghWeU Amber purchased 

a $75 electronic gift card for her fUom MaVVage EnY\¶V ZebViWe.  AccoUding Wo MaVVage EnY\¶V 

offer on its website, that gift card would provide a ³1-hour introductory massage.´  Amber told 

Plaintiff Haywood that it would provide her with a one-hour massage. 

120. Ms. Haywood was notified of the gift by email on February 13, 2016.  (See copy 

of email, Ex. B.)  The email told her that she had received a gift card in the amount of $75.00.  It 

advised her to download her card and present it at the time of purchase.  The email did not 

mention the length of the massage she would be able to obtain with the card.   
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121. A line bXUied in fine pUinW aW Whe boWWom of Whe email VWaWed, ³SeVVion inclXdeV 

maVVage oU facial and Wime foU conVXlWaWion and dUeVVing.´  HoZeYeU, Whe email did noW indicaWe 

how much time was spent on the massage.  If Massage Envy had intended not to deceive the 

recipient, it would have stated clearly in large type near the top of the email, right after the price 

of $75.00, ³good foU a one-hour massage session consisting of 50-minute massage, interview and 

Wime foU XndUeVVing and dUeVVing.´  IW did noW. 

122. Ms. Haywood downloaded her gift card.  (It is attached hereto as Ex. C.)  The gift 

card contains a set of terms and conditions.  None of those terms and conditions relates to the 

length of the massage to which the gift card would entitle her.  In fact, nowhere on the card or 

the web page where the card is located is there a reference to the length of the massage that she 

could obtain. 

123. MV. Ha\Zood ZenW on MaVVage EnY\¶V ZebViWe Wo read about the one-hour 

massage that she had received and to find the nearest location, which she learned was in 

O¶Fallon, Illinois, at 1140 Central Park Dr., Suite 102.  Nowhere did she read that the massage 

would actually be less than an hour.   

124. Ms. Haywood then called Whe O¶Fallon facility and made an appointment for May 

11, 2016.  On that date, Vhe ZenW Wo MaVVage EnY\¶V O¶Fallon, IllinoiV locaWion foU heU maVVage.  

She checked in ZiWh Whe fUonW deVk bXW didn¶W Vign an\Whing or receive any information regarding 

the length of the appointment.  No sign or other displayed notice indicated that the massage time 

would be less than one hour.   

125. Ms. Haywood was called for her appointment around the time it was scheduled.  

She talked to the massage therapist briefly and was given time to undress.  After a waiting 

period, the therapist came back in and the massage lasted no more than 50 minutes. 
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126. At the end of the session, she requested documentation of her session and was 

giYen Whe aWWached ³MaVVage WellneVV Plan.´  E[. D 

127. In September 2016, to verify that Massage Envy provided onl\ 50 minXWeV¶ 

massage time for a one-hour massage, Ms. Haywood Welephoned MaVVage EnY\¶V O¶Fallon, IL, 

location and made a reservation over the phone for a 3:00 p.m. appointment on September 8, 

2016, for a one-hour massage costing $90.   

128. On September 8, 2016, Ms. Haywood arrived at MaVVage EnY\¶V O¶Fallon faciliW\ 

at approximately 2:55 p.m., checked in at the desk, and was not asked to sign anything.  No sign 

or other displayed notice indicated that the massage time would be less than one hour.  Her 

actual massage was no longer than 50 minutes.   

129. As she was leaving the facility, Ms. Haywood noticed a stack of cards at the front 

desk.  She took one.  It is attached as Ex. A.  No employee of Massage Envy ever called her 

attention to that card on either date when she was there. 

130. At the end of her September 2016 session, Ms. Haywood requested 

documentation of her session and ZaV giYen Whe aWWached ³MaVVage WellneVV Plan.´  E[. E.  She 

also received the attached receipt, which reflects the balance that she paid in addition to the 

credit remaining from the gift card provided by her daughter.  Ex. F.  

Lia Holt 

131. In oU aboXW ApUil 2012, PlainWiff Lia HolW acceVVed MaVVage EnY\¶V ZebViWe Wo 

research the prices for a one-hour massage and to find a Massage Envy location near her.  She 

learned that the nearest location was in Oakville, Missouri. 

132. After that, Ms. Holt (using her then-name, Lia Malec) telephoned the Oakville 

location to make an appointment for a one-hour massage. 
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133. In or about April 2012, Ms. Holt traveled to the Oakville location for the massage 

she had reserved.  She was provided a massage that lasted no more than 50 minutes.  

134. Ms. Holt purchased her massage for personal, family or household purposes. 

MASSAGE ENVY¶S ACTS AND PRACTICES VIOLATE ETHICAL STANDARDS 

135. Before Massage Envy changed its website approximately one month after this 

lawsuit was filed, its acts and practices violated generally accepted principles of ethical business 

conduct for the following reasons: 

x The offer of a one-hour massage or massage session was not clear, honest and 

complete so that the consumer might know the exact nature of what was being 

offered because the one-hour massage or massage session did not include one 

hour of massage time. 

x The offer of a one-hour massage or massage session did not include consistent 

statements or representations of all the essential points of the offer. 

x The overall impression of the offer of a one-hour massage or massage session was 

contradicted by a disclaimer. 

x The UepUeVenWaWion on MaVVage EnY\¶V DiVclaimeU Page WhaW Whe one-hour 

maVVage ³VeVVion´ inclXded dUeVVing and conVXlWaWion Wime ZaV maWeUial Wo Whe 

offer of a one-hour massage session and was unlikely to be noticed. 

x The VWaWemenW on MaVVage EnY\¶V Zeb page ³T\pe of MaVVage´ WhaW a one-hour 

massage session included a 50-minute ³handV-on maVVage´ ZaV so hard to find 

that it was unlikely to be noticed. 

x The VWaWemenW on MaVVage EnY\¶V pUinWed caUd WhaW a one-hour massage session 

inclXded onl\ 50 minXWeV of maVVage Wime ZaV pUoYided onl\ in Win\ ³moXVe 
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W\pe´ and WheUefoUe Xnlikel\ Wo be noticed.  In addition, the card was not provided 

Wo Whe conVXmeU oU called Wo Whe conVXmeU¶V aWWenWion befoUe Whe maVVage. 

136. The basis for the allegation that it was unethical to engage in the above practices 

comes, in part, from established ethical principles recognized by the Direct Marketing 

AVVociaWion (³DMA´), Whe leading indXVWU\ aVVociaWion foU companieV WhaW, like Massage Envy, 

market directly to consumers.  

137. DMA has published principles of ethical business practices for such marketing 

activities.  DiUecW MaUkeWiQg AVVRciaWiRQ¶V GXideOiQeV fRU EWhicaO BXViQeVV PUacWiceV (³DMA 

EWhical GXidelineV´).  See Ex. G - DMA Ethical Guidelines, revised May 2011; Ex. H ± DMA 

Ethical Guideline, revised January 2014, both of which are incorporated herein by reference.  

138. TheVe EWhical GXidelineV ³aUe inWended Wo pUoYide indiYidXalV and oUgani]aWionV 

inYolYed in diUecW maUkeWing in all media ZiWh geneUall\ accepWed pUincipleV of condXcW.´ Id. at 2.  

The\ ³UeflecW DMA¶V long-standing policy of high levels of ethics and the responsibility of the 

Association, its members, and all marketers to maintain consumer and community relationships 

WhaW aUe baVed on faiU and eWhical pUincipleV.´  Id. (emphasis added).  

139. In addiWion, DMA VWaWeV WhaW Whe EWhical GXidelineV ³aUe inWended Wo be honoUed in 

light of their aims and principles.  All marketers should support the guidelines in spirit and not 

treat their provisions as obstacles to be circumvented by legal ingenXiW\.´  Id.  

140. DMA has also published a companion volume to its Ethical Guidelines called Do 

Whe RighW ThiQg: A CRPSaQiRQ WR DMA¶V GXideOiQeV fRU EWhicaO BXViQeVV PUacWice (Revised 

JanXaU\ 2009) (³Do the Right Thing´).  Ex. I, incorporated herein by reference.  That volume is 

inWended Wo ³giYe[] diUecW maUkeWeUV adYice on hoZ Wo aVVXUe WheiU bXVineVV pUacWiceV compl\ 

ZiWh´ Whe EWhical GXidelineV.  Do the Right Thing at 2.   
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141. DMA¶V EWhical GXidelineV aUe VeW foUWh in a VeUieV of ³AUWicleV,´ each of Zhich 

states a separate ethical principle. 

142. In both the 2011 and 2014 editions of its Ethical Guidelines, Article #1, 

³HONESTY AND CLARITY OF OFFER,´ VWaWeV:  ³All offeUV VhoXld be cleaU, honeVW and 

complete so that the consumer may know the exact nature of what is being offeUed «.´ 

143. MaVVage EnY\¶V offeUV of one-hour massages or massage sessions violated this 

ethical principle because they did not state that the sessions include no more than 50 minutes of 

actual massage time and therefore did not let the consumer know the exact nature of what is 

being offered. 

144. In both the 2011 and 2014 versions of its Ethical Guidelines, Article #2, 

³ACCURACY AND CONSISTENCY,´ VWaWeV:  ³Simple and conViVWenW VWaWemenWV oU 

representations of all the essential points of the offer should appear in the promotional material. 

The overall impression of an offer should not be contradicted by individual statements, 

representations or disclaimers.´  (EmphaViV added.) 

145. In Do the Right Thing, DMA elaboUaWeV on WhiV eWhical pUinciple.  IW VWaWeV, ³Keep 

in mind that a disclaimer or disclosure alone usually is not enough to remedy a misleading or 

falVe claim.´  

146. MaVVage EnY\¶V offeUV of one-hour massages or massage sessions violated this 

ethical principle because the impression of the offers ± that a consumer will receive a one-hour 

massage ± iV e[pliciWl\ conWUadicWed b\ a ³DiVclaimeU´ and b\ oWheU VWaWemenWV on iWV ZebViWe. 

147. In both the 2011 and 2014 versions of its Ethical Guidelines, Article #3, 

³CLARITY OF REPRESENTATIONS,´ VWaWeV:  ³RepUeVenWaWionV Zhich, by their size, 
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placement, duration or other characteristics are unlikely to be noticed or are difficult to 

XndeUVWand VhoXld noW be XVed if Whe\ aUe maWeUial Wo Whe offeU.´ 

148. In explaining this ethical principle in Do the Right Thing, DMA VWaWeV, ³A 

pUomoWion, foU inVWance, WhaW XVeV µmoXVe W\pe¶ aW Whe boWWom of a page « ZoXld UendeU Whe 

pUomoWion difficXlW Wo Uead and XncleaU.´  AccoUding Wo dicWionaU\.com, ³moXVe W\pe´ iV ³small-

sized type, usually smaller than 7-point.´ 

149. MaVVage EnY\¶V UepUeVenWaWion on its website that the massage session includes 

time for dressing and consultation violated this ethical principle because it is material to the 

offers of one-hoXU maVVageV oU maVVage VeVVionV and noW onl\ XVeV ³moXVe W\pe´ in a fooWnoWe aW 

the bottom of the web page, but even then the consumer must click and then read through a page 

of ³DiVclaimeUV´ Wo leaUn WhaW Whe VeVVion inclXdeV Wime foU dUeVVing and conVXlWaWion ± and is 

never told that it also includes time for undressing and waiting for the therapist to arrive.  Even 

ZoUVe, Whe ³DiVclaimeU´ neYeU VWaWeV WhaW Whe hoXU inclXdeV no moUe Whan 50 minXWeV of maVVage 

time.   

150. MaVVage EnY\¶V VWaWemenW on iWV ³T\peV of MaVVage´ ZebViWe WhaW a one-hour 

massage session includes 5 minutes of therapist consultation, 50 minutes of hands-on massage, 

and 5 minutes of dressing violates this ethical principle because it is virtually impossible to find 

and therefore unlikely to be noticed. 

151. MaVVage EnY\¶V pUicing caUd WhaW VWaWeV in Win\ 5 pW. W\pe aW Whe boWWom of Whe card 

that a massage session includes 10 minutes for consultation and dressing violates this ethical 

principle because it is unlikely to be noticed and difficult to read in that it is contained in a block 

of ³moXVe W\pe´ and becaXVe Whe caUd iV noW pUoYided to the consumer or called to the 

conVXmeU¶V aWWenWion befoUe Whe maVVage. 
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THE ILLEGALITY OF MASSAGE ENVY¶S PRACTICES UNDER THE ICFA 

152. MaVVage EnY\¶V acts and practices in providing only 50 minutes of massage time 

while telling consumers that they would receive a one-hour massage or massage session were 

deceptive and unfair in violation of Section 2 of the ICFA. 

153. Section 2 of the ICFA, 815 ILCS 505/2, pUohibiWV ³XnfaiU oU decepWiYe acWV oU 

practices, including but not limited to the use or employment of any deception, fraud, false 

pretense, false promise, misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or omission of such 

material fact « in Whe condXcW of an\ WUade oU commeUce «,´ as set forth below: 

Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices, including 
but not limited to the use or employment of any deception, fraud, false pretense, 
false promise, misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or omission of 
any material fact, with intent that others rely upon the concealment, suppression 
or omission of such material fact, or the use or employment of any practice 
deVcUibed in SecWion 2 of Whe ³UnifoUm DecepWiYe TUade PUacWiceV AcW´, appUoYed 
August 5, 1965,1 in the conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared 
unlawful whether any person has in fact been misled, deceived or damaged 
thereby. 

815 ILCS 505/2.  

MaVVage EQY\¶V Acts and Practices Violate the ICFA¶V Prohibitions of Deception 

154. MaVVage EnY\¶V acts and practices of providing no more than a 50-minute 

massage while charging for a one-hour massage or massage session were deceptive in violation 

of the ICFA because Massage Envy deceives consumers into believing they were obtaining a 

one-hour massage even though the actual massage is no more than 50 minutes.  

Massage EQY\¶V Acts and Practices Violate the ICFA¶V Prohibitions of Omissions of 
Material Facts 

155. Section 2 of the ICFA outlaws ³Whe concealmenW, VXppUeVVion oU omiVVion of an\ 

material fact, with intent that others rely upon the concealment, suppression or omission of such 

maWeUial facW «.´ 815 ILCS. 505/2.  
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156. MaVVage EnY\¶V acts and practices of failing to disclose that at least 10 minutes of 

any massage session would be spent undressing, consulting, waiting and dressing, was an 

omission of a material fact in violation of the ICFA. 

MaVVage EQY\¶V Acts and Practices Are Unethical in Violation of the ICFA¶V Prohibitions 
of Unfairness 

157. In outlawing unfair acts and practices, the Illinois legislature adopted the Federal 

TUade CommiVVion¶V inWeUpUeWaWion of � 5(a)(1) of Whe FedeUal TUade CommiVVion (³FTC´) AcW, 

15 U.S.C. § 45(a):  ³In conVWUXing WhiV VecWion conVideUaWion Vhall be giYen Wo Whe inWeUpUeWaWionV 

of the Federal Trade Commission and the federal courts relating to Section 5(a) of the Federal 

Trade Commission AcW.´ 815 ILCS 505/2.  

158. In determining whether a practice is unfair in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC 

Act, the FTC considers whether the practice is unethical.  See FTC v. Sperry & Hutchinson Co., 

405 U.S. 233 at 244 n. 5.  Accordingly, unethical practices are unfair under ICFA.  

159. MaVVage EnY\¶V pUacWiceV in pUoYiding no moUe Whan 50 minXWeV of maVVage Wime 

in a one-hour massage or massage session violated the unfairness prohibition of the ICFA 

because they were unethical. 

THE ILLEGALITY OF MASSAGE ENVY¶S PRACTICES UNDER THE MMPA 

160. MaVVage EnY\¶V acWV and pUacWiceV in pUoYiding onl\ 50 minXWeV of maVVage Wime 

while telling consumers that they would receive a one-hour massage or massage session are 

deceptive and unfair in violation of the MMPA, Mo. Rev. Stat. § 407.020. 

161. Mo. ReY. SWaW. � 407.020.1 pUohibiWV ³[W]he act, use or employment by any person 

of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, misrepresentation, unfair practice or the 

concealment, suppression, or omission of any material fact in connection with the sale or 

advertisement of any merchandise in trade or commerce.´ 
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MaVVage EQY\¶V AcWV aQd PUacWLceV VLROaWe Whe MMPA¶V PURhLbLWLRQV Rf DeceSWLRQ 

162. MaVVage EnY\¶V acWV and pUacWiceV of pUoYiding onl\ a 50-minute massage while 

charging for a one-hour massage or massage session were deceptive in violation of the MMPA 

because Massage Envy deceived consumers into believing they were obtaining a one-hour 

massage even though the actual massage was no more than 50 minutes. 

MaVVage EQY\¶V AcWV aQd PUacWLceV VLROaWe Whe MMPA¶V PURhLbLWLRQV Rf OPLVVLRQV Rf 
Material Facts 

163. The MMPA, Mo. ReY. SWaW. � 407.020, pUohibiWV Whe ³omission of any material 

fact in connection with the sale or advertisement of any merchandise in trade or commerce.´ 

164. MaVVage EnY\¶V acWV and practices of failing to disclose that at least 10 minutes of 

any massage session would be spent undressing, consulting, waiting and dressing, was an 

omission of a material fact in violation of the MMPA. 

MaVVage EQY\¶V AcWV aQd PUacWLceV AUe UQeWhLcaO LQ VLROaWLRQ Rf Whe MMPA¶V PURhLbLWLRQV 
of Unfairness 

165. The MMPA pUohibiWV ³unfair practice[s] ... in connection with the sale or 

advertisement of any merchandise in trade or commerce.´  Mo. ReY. SWaW. � 407.020.1. 

166. The Missouri Attorney General has promulgated regulations defining the meaning 

of unfair practice as used in the above statute.  Specifically, Mo. Code Regs. tit. 15, § 60-8.020, 

provides: 

(1) An unfair practice is any practice which- 

(A) Either- 

1. Offends any public policy as it has been 
established by the Constitution, statutes or common 
law of this state, or by the Federal Trade 
Commission, or its interpretive decisions; or 

2. Is unethical, oppressive or unscrupulous; and 
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(B) Presents a risk of, or causes, substantial injury to 
consumers. 

(2) Proof of deception, fraud, or misrepresentation is not required 
to prove unfair practices as used in section 407.020.1., RSMo. (See 
Federal Trade Commission v. Sperry and Hutchinson Co., 405 
U.S. 233, 92 S.Ct. 898, 31 L.Ed.2d 170 (1972); Marshall v. Miller, 
302 N.C. 539, 276 S.E.2d 397 (N.C. 1981); see also, Restatement, 
Second, Contracts, sections 364 and 365). 

167. Pursuant to Mo. Rev. Stat. §407.020 and Mo. Code Regs. Tit. 15, § 60-8.020, 

MaVVage EnY\¶V actions in providing no more than 50 minutes of massage time in a one-hour 

massage or massage session violated the unfairness prohibition because those actions were 

unethical. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

168. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, Plaintiff seeks to represent the following Classes: 

Illinois Class.  All consumers who, in the State of Illinois, purchased 
a one-hour massage or massage session from Massage Envy or its 
franchisees (other than a purchase as part of a membership) and 
received no more than 50 minutes of actual massage time. 

Missouri Class.  All consumers who, in the State of Missouri, 
purchased a one-hour massage or massage session for personal, 
family or household purposes from Massage Envy or its franchisees 
(other than a purchase as part of a membership) and received no more 
than 50 minutes of actual massage time 

169. Excluded from the proposed Classes are Defendant, its Directors, and employees, 

as well as employees of any subsidiary, affiliate, successors, or assignees of Defendant.  Also 

excluded is any trial judge who may preside over this case.  

170. The class periods are the periods beginning with the dates the applicable statutes 

of limitations began to run for the respective state and ending when Massage Envy changed its 

website approximately one month after the original complaint was filed herein to remove the 
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deceptive statements and to disclose clearly that a one-hour massage session includes only 50 

minutes of massage time.  

171. Numerosity.  The exact size of the Classes is currently unknown to Plaintiff, but 

the total number of Class members is so numerous that joinder of all Class members would be 

impracticable.      

172. Commonality.  There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of 

law and fact affecting Class members.  Among the numerous questions of law or fact common to 

the Class are the following:   

A. Did Massage Envy offer a one-hour massage oU ³maVVage session´ without 

specifying that the actual massage lasts no more than 50 minutes? 

B.  WeUe Whe maVVageV pUoYided in MaVVage EnY\¶V one-hour massage sessions 

no more than 50 minutes? 

C. Was it deceptive in violation of the ICFA and MMPA for Massage Envy to 

offer one-hour massages or massage sessions without specifying that the 

massages last no more than 50 minutes? 

D. Was it unfair in violation of the ICFA and MMPA for Massage Envy to offer 

one-hour massages or massage sessions without specifying that the massages 

last no more than 50 minutes? 

E. Did Plaintiffs suffer injury because she paid for one-hour massages that lasted 

no more than 50 minutes. 

173. Typicality.  The claims of Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the members of 

the Class.   
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174. Adequacy of Representation.  Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of the 

Classes and have no conflicW of inWeUeVW ZiWh oWheU claVV membeUV.  PlainWiff¶s attorneys are 

experienced in this type of litigation and will prosecute the action adequately and vigorously on 

behalf of the Class.   

175. Predominance.  The questions of law or fact common to class members 

predominate over any questions affecting only individual members. 

176. Superiority.  A class action is superior to other available methods for fairly and 

efficiently adjudicating the controversy. 

JURY DEMAND 

177. Plaintiff demands a jury trial to the extent it is allowed by law. 

COUNT I:  AFFIRMATIVE DECEPTION IN VIOLATION OF THE ICFA 
(Plaintiff Kathy Haywood and Illinois Class) 

178. Plaintiff Kathy Haywood realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint as though fully alleged in this paragraph. 

179. SecWion 2 of Whe ICFA pUohibiWV ³decepWiYe acWV oU pUacWices, including but not 

limited to the use or employment of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, 

misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact, with intent 

that others rely upon the concealment, suppression oU omiVVion of VXch maWeUial facW « in Whe 

condXcW of an\ WUade oU commeUce «.´ 815 ILCS 505/2.  

180. In providing one-hour massage sessions, Massage Envy was and is engaged in 

trade and commerce.  

181. Pursuant to the ICFA, Massage Envy has a duty not to engage in deceptive acts or 

practices by the use of deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation in the 

conduct of any trade of commerce.  For the reasons stated herein, it breached that duty. 

Case 3:16-cv-01087-DRH-SCW   Document 20   Filed 11/14/16   Page 64 of 76   Page ID #744



60 

182. By offering and selling one-hour massages or massage sessions without stating 

that the massage lasts no more than 50 minutes, Massage Envy engaged in deceptive acts or 

practices by the use of deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation. 

183. Plaintiff Kathy Haywood and members of the Illinois Class purchased one-hour 

maVVageV and/oU maVVage ³VeVVionV´ bXW UeceiYed maVVageV WhaW laVWed no longeU Whan 50 

minutes. 

184. MaVVage EnY\¶V deceptive acts and practices directly, foreseeably, and 

proximately caused damages and injury to the Illinois Class.  Massage Envy engaged in these 

deceptive acts and practices willfully and knowingly.  

185. Plaintiff and the Class suffered monetary damages in the amounts that Massage 

Envy charged for massage time that it did not provide.  

186. The ICFA alloZV ³[a]ny person who suffers actual damage as a result of a 

violation of this Act committed by any other person [to] bring an action against such person. The 

court, in its discretion may award actual economic damages or any other relief which the court 

deems propeU«.´ 815 ILCS 505/10a.  

187. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and the Illinois Class pray for the relief requested in the 

Prayer for Relief set forth below. 

COUNT II:  OMISSIONS OF MATERIAL FACT IN VIOLATION OF THE ICFA 
(Plaintiff Kathy Hawyood and Illinois Class) 

188. Plaintiff Kathy Haywood realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint as though fully alleged in this paragraph. 

189. SecWion 2 of Whe ICFA pUohibiWV ³decepWiYe acWV oU pUacWiceV, inclXding bXW noW 

limited to the use or employment of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, 

misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact, with intent 
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WhaW oWheUV Uel\ Xpon Whe concealmenW, VXppUeVVion oU omiVVion of VXch maWeUial facW « in Whe 

conduct of an\ WUade oU commeUce «.´ 815 ILCS 505/2.  

190. In providing one-hour massage sessions, Massage Envy was and is engaged in 

trade and commerce.  

191. Pursuant to ICFA Massage Envy has a duty not to engage in deceptive acts or 

practices by the use of the concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact, with intent 

that others rely upon the concealment, suppression or omission of such material fact.  For the 

reasons stated herein, it breached that duty. 

192. By offering and selling one-hour massages or massage sessions without stating 

that the massage lasts no more than 50 minutes, Massage Envy engaged in deceptive acts or 

practices by the use of the concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact, with intent 

that others rely upon the concealment, suppression or omission of such material fact. 

193. Plaintiff and members of the Illinois Class purchased one-hour massages and/or 

maVVage ³VeVVionV´ bXW UeceiYed maVVageV WhaW laVWed no longeU Whan 50 minXWeV. 

194. MaVVage EnY\¶V deceptive acts and practices by the use of the concealment, 

suppression or omission of any material fact, with intent that others rely upon the concealment, 

suppression or omission of such material fact directly, foreseeably, and proximately caused 

damages and injury to the Illinois Class.   

195. Massage Envy engaged in these deceptive acts and practices willfully and 

knowingly.  

196. Ms. Haywood and the Illinois Class suffered monetary damages in the amounts 

that Massage Envy charged for massage time that it did not provide.  
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197. The ICFA alloZV ³[a]n\ person who suffers actual damage as a result of a 

violation of this Act committed by any other person [to] bring an action against such person.  

The court, in its discretion may award actual economic damages or any other relief which the 

court deems propeU«.´ 815 ILCS 505/10a.  

198. WHEREFORE, Ms. Haywood and the Illinois Class pray for the relief requested 

in the Prayer for Relief set forth below. 

COUNT III:  UNFAIR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF THE ICFA 
(Plaintiff Kathy Haywood and Illinois Class) 

199. Plaintiff Kathy Haywood realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint as though fully alleged in this paragraph. 

200. SecWion 2 of Whe ICFA pUohibiWV ³unfair or deceptive acts or practices, including 

but not limited to the use or employment of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, 

misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact, with intent 

WhaW oWheUV Uel\ Xpon Whe concealmenW, VXppUeVVion oU omiVVion of VXch maWeUial facW « in Whe 

condXcW of an\ WUade oU commeUce «.´ 815 ILCS 505/2.  

201. Section 2 of the ICFA also provides:  ³In conVWUXing WhiV VecWion conVideUaWion 

shall be given to the interpretations of the Federal Trade Commission and the federal courts 

relating to Section 5(a) of the FedeUal TUade CommiVVion AcW.´ 815 ILCS 505/2.  

202. In determining whether a practice is unfair in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC 

Act, the FTC considers whether the practice is unethical.  See FTC v. Sperry & Hutchinson Co., 

405 U.S. 233 at 244 n. 5.  Accordingly, unethical practices are unfair under ICFA.  

203. In providing one-hour massage sessions, Massage Envy was engaged in trade and 

commerce.  
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204. Pursuant to ICFA Massage Envy has a duty not to engage in unfair acts or 

practices in the conduct of any trade of commerce.  For the reasons stated herein, it breached that 

duty. 

205. MaVVage EnY\¶V acts and practices alleged herein are unfair in that they violate 

generally accepted principles of ethical business conduct for the following reasons: 

x The offer of a one-hour massage or massage session was not clear, honest and 

complete so that the consumer might know the exact nature of what was being 

offered because the one-hour massage or massage session did not include one 

hour of massage time. 

x The offer of a one-hour massage or massage session did not include consistent 

statements or representations of all the essential points of the offer. 

x The overall impression of the offer of a one-hour massage or massage session 

was contradicted by a disclaimer. 

x The UepUeVenWaWion on MaVVage EnY\¶V DiVclaimeU Page WhaW Whe one-hour 

maVVage ³VeVVion´ inclXded dressing and consultation time was material to the 

offer of a one-hour massage session and was unlikely to be noticed. 

x The VWaWemenW on MaVVage EnY\¶V Zeb page ³T\pe of MaVVage´ WhaW a one-

hour massage session included a 50-minXWe ³handV-on maVVage´ was so 

difficult to find that it was unlikely to be noticed. 

x The VWaWemenW on MaVVage EnY\¶V pUinWed card that a one-hour massage 

session included only 50 minutes of massage time was provided only in tiny 

³moXVe W\pe´ and WheUefoUe Xnlikel\ Wo be noWiced.  In addition, the card was 
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noW pUoYided Wo Whe conVXmeU oU called Wo Whe conVXmeU¶V aWWenWion befoUe Whe 

massage. 

206. MaVVage EnY\¶V unfair acts and practices directly, foreseeably, and proximately 

caused damages and injury to the Illinois Class.   

207. Massage Envy engaged in the unfair acts and practices as described above 

willfully and knowingly.  

208. Ms. Haywood and members of the Illinois Class purchased one-hour massages 

and/oU maVVage ³VeVVionV´ bXW UeceiYed maVVageV WhaW laVWed no longeU Whan 50 minXWeV. 

209. Ms. Haywood and the Illinois Class suffered monetary damages in the amounts 

that Massage Envy charged for massage time that it did not provide.  

210. The ICFA alloZV ³[a]n\ peUson who suffers actual damage as a result of a 

violation of this Act committed by any other person [to] bring an action against such person. The 

court, in its discretion may award actual economic damages or any other relief which the court 

deemV pUopeU«.´ 815 ILCS 505/10a.  

211. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and the Illinois Class pray for the relief requested in the 

Prayer for Relief set forth below. 

COUNT IV:  AFFIRMATIVE DECEPTION IN VIOLATION OF THE MMPA 
(Plaintiff Lia Holt and Missouri Class) 

212. Plaintiff Lia Holt realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs 

of this Complaint as though fully alleged in this paragraph. 

213. Mo. Rev. Stat. §407.020.1 prohibits ³[W]he act, use or employment by any person 

of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, misrepresentation, unfair practice or the 

concealment, suppression, or omission of any material fact in connection with the sale or 

advertisement of any merchandise in trade or commerce.´  
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214. In offering one-hour massage sessions, Massage Envy is engaged in the sale or 

advertisement of merchandise in trade or commerce.  

215. Pursuant to the MMPA, Massage Envy has a duty not to engage in deception, 

fraud, false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation, in connection with the sale or 

advertisement of any merchandise in trade or commerce.  For the reasons stated herein, it 

breached that duty. 

216. By offering and selling one-hour massages or massage sessions without stating 

that the massage lasts no more than 50 minutes, Massage Envy has engaged in deception, fraud, 

false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation, in connection with the sale or advertisement 

of any merchandise in trade or commerce. 

217. Plaintiff Lia Holt and members of the Missouri Class purchased one-hour 

maVVageV and/oU maVVage ³VeVVionV´ bXW Ueceived massages that lasted no longer than 50 

minutes. 

218. MaVVage EnY\¶V deceptive acts and practices have directly, foreseeably, and 

proximately caused ascertainable loss to Ms. Holt and the Missouri Class.   

219. Massage Envy has engaged in these deceptive acts and practices willfully and 

knowingly.  

220. Ms. Holt and the Missouri Class suffered ascertainable loss in the amounts that 

Massage Envy charged for massage time that it did not provide.  

221. The MMPA allows ³[a]n\ peUVon Zho purchases or leases merchandise primarily 

for personal, family or household purposes and thereby suffers an ascertainable loss of money ... 

as a result of the use or employment by another person of a method, act or practice declared 

unlawful by section 407.020 ... to recover actual damages.´ Mo. Rev. Stat. § 407.025.1.  
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222. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Lia Holt and the Missouri Class pray for the relief 

requested in the Prayer for Relief set forth below. 

COUNT V:  OMISSIONS OF MATERIAL FACT IN VIOLATION OF THE MMPA 
(Plaintiff Lia Holt and Missouri Class) 

223. Plaintiff Lia Holt realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs 

of this Complaint as though fully alleged in this paragraph. 

224. The MMPA, Mo. ReY. SWaW. � 407.020, pUohibiWV ³Whe concealmenW, VXppUeVVion oU 

omission of any material fact in connection with the sale or advertisement of any merchandise in 

trade or commerce.´ 

225. In offering one-hour massage sessions, Massage Envy was engaged in the sale or 

advertisement of merchandise in trade or commerce.  

226. Pursuant to the MMPA, Massage Envy has a duty not to engage in the 

concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact in connection with the sale or 

advertisement of any merchandise in trade or commerce.  For the reasons stated herein, it 

breached that duty. 

227. By offering and selling one-hour massages or massage sessions without stating 

that the massage lasts no more than 50 minutes, Massage Envy engaged in the concealment, 

suppression or omission of material fact. 

228. Ms. Holt and members of the Missouri Class purchased one-hour massages and/or 

maVVage ³VeVVionV´ bXW UeceiYed maVVageV WhaW laVWed no longeU Whan 50 minXWeV. 

229. Massage Envy directly, foreseeably, and proximately caused ascertainable loss to 

Ms. Holt and the Missouri Class.   

230. Massage Envy engaged in these deceptive acts and practices willfully and 

knowingly.  
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231. Ms. Holt and the Missouri Class suffered ascertainable loss in the amounts that 

Massage Envy charged for massage time that it did not provide.  

232. The MMPA allows ³[a]n\ peUVon Zho purchases or leases merchandise primarily 

for personal, family or household purposes and thereby suffers an ascertainable loss of money ... 

as a result of the use or employment by another person of a method, act or practice declared 

unlawful by section 407.020 ... to recover actual damages.´ Mo. Rev. Stat. § 407.025.1.  

233. WHEREFORE, Ms. Holt and the Missouri Class pray for the relief requested in 

the Prayer for Relief set forth below. 

COUNT VI:  UNFAIR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF THE ICFA 
(Plaintiff Lia Holt and Missouri Class) 

234. Plaintiff Lia Holt realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs 

of this Complaint as though fully alleged in this paragraph. 

235. Mo. Rev. Stat. §407.020.1 prohibits ³[W]he act, use or employment by any person 

of any ... unfair practice ... in connection with the sale or advertisement of any merchandise in 

trade or commerce.´  

236. In offering one-hour massage sessions, Massage Envy is engaged in the sale or 

advertisement of merchandise in trade or commerce.  

237. The Missouri Attorney General has promulgated regulations defining the meaning 

of unfair practice as used in the above statute.  That definition states that unethical practices are 

unfair in violation of the above statute.  Mo. Code Regs. tit. 15, § 60-8.020. 

238. Pursuant to the MMPA, Massage Envy has a duty not to engage in any unethical 

or unfair practice in connection with the sale or advertisement of any merchandise in trade or 

commerce.  For the reasons stated herein, it breached that duty. 
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239. In advertising and providing one-hour massage sessions, Massage Envy is 

engaged in trade and commerce.  

240. MaVVage EnY\¶V acWV and pUacWiceV alleged heUein aUe XnfaiU in WhaW Whe\ YiolaWe 

generally accepted principles of ethical business conduct for the following reasons: 

x The offer of a one-hour massage or massage session was not clear, honest and 

complete so that the consumer may know the exact nature of what is being 

offered because the one-hour massage or massage session did not include one 

hour of massage time. 

x The offer of a one-hour massage or massage session did not include consistent 

statements or representations of all the essential points of the offer. 

x The overall impression of the offer of a one-hour massage or massage session 

was contradicted by a disclaimer. 

x The UepUeVenWaWion on MaVVage EnY\¶V DiVclaimeU Page WhaW Whe one-hour 

maVVage ³VeVVion´ inclXded dUeVVing and conVXlWaWion Wime iV maWeUial Wo Whe 

offer of a one-hour massage session and was unlikely to be noticed. 

x The VWaWemenW on MaVVage EnY\¶V Zeb page ³T\pe of MaVVage´ WhaW a one-

hour massage session includes a 50-minute ³handV-on maVVage´ ZaV so 

difficult to find that it was unlikely to be noticed. 

x The VWaWemenW on MaVVage EnY\¶V pUinWed caUd WhaW a one-hour massage 

session includes only 50 minutes of massage time was provided only in tiny 

³moXVe W\pe´ and WheUefoUe Xnlikely to be noticed.  In addition, the card was 

noW pUoYided Wo Whe conVXmeU oU called Wo Whe conVXmeU¶V aWWenWion befoUe Whe 

massage. 
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241. MaVVage EnY\¶V unfair acts and practices have directly, foreseeably, and 

proximately caused damages and injury to the Class.   

242. Massage Envy has engaged in the unfair acts and practices as described above 

willfully and knowingly.  

243. Ms. Holt and members of the Missouri Class purchased one-hour massages and/or 

maVVage ³VeVVionV´ bXW UeceiYed maVVageV WhaW laVWed no longeU Whan 50 minutes. 

244. Massage Envy directly, foreseeably, and proximately caused ascertainable loss to 

Ms. Holt and the Missouri Class.   

245. Ms. Holt and members of the Missouri Class purchased one-hour massages and/or 

maVVage ³VeVVionV´ bXW UeceiYed maVVageV WhaW laVWed no longer than 50 minutes. 

246. Massage Envy directly, foreseeably, and proximately caused ascertainable loss to 

Ms. Holt and the Missouri Class.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

247. For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the 

members of the putative Classes, pray for a judgment:  

A. Certifying the Classes as defined herein;  

B. Entering an order appointing Law Office of Richard S. Cornfeld and The Bruning 
Law Firm, LLC, as counsel for the Class;  

C. Awarding Plaintiffs and the Classes compensatory damages in an amount to be 
determined at trial;  

D. Awarding restitution to Plaintiff and the Class in an amount to be determined at 
trial;  

E. Awarding punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial;  

F. Awarding Plaintiffs and the Classes WheiU coVWV of VXiW and UeaVonable aWWoUne\V¶ 
fees;  

G. Providing such further relief as the Court may deem fair and reasonable.  
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Respectfully submitted, 

LAW OFFICE OF RICHARD S. CORNFELD 

 

By:    /s/ Richard S. Cornfeld    
Richard S. Cornfeld    
1010 Market Street, Suite 1720 
St. Louis, MO  63101 
P 314-241-5799   
F 314-241-5788 
rcornfeld@cornfeldlegal.com 

and 

Anthony S. Bruning 
Anthony S. Bruning, Jr. 
Ryan L. Bruning 
THE BRUNING LAW FIRM, LLC 
555 Washington Avenue, Suite 600 
St. Louis, MO 63101 
P. 314-735-8100 / F. 314-898-3078 
tony@bruninglegal.com 
aj@bruninglegal.com 

  ryan@bruninglegal.com 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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